# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/7/2021 4:40 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99715-2

#### NO. 81539-3-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HTP, Inc., a Washington corporation,

Appellant,

v.

JC AVIATION INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and HyTech Power, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents.

#### APPELLANT HTP, INC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177 Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA No. 41773 WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC 7500 212th St. SW, Suite 207 Edmonds, WA 98026 Telephone: (425) 728-7296

Email: dennis@westwalaw.com;

robert@westwalaw.com; and docs@westwalaw.com

and

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 2018 HTP and Respondent JC Aviation Investments, LLC, a Washington limited liability company ("JCAI") formed HyTech Power, LLC, a Washington limited liability company ("HyTech") and JCAI, HyTech, and HTP signed the HyTech Power, LLC Agreement ("Agreement") that contains in Paragraph 12.13 the arbitration provision involved in this dispute ("Arbitration Provision"). CP 114-117 and continuing on CP 30-47. The Arbitration Provision provision requires, among other things that all disputes "arising hereunder" that the parties cannot in good faith settle after giving the other party 30 days' notice "will be resolved through final and binding arbitration in Seattle, Washington through the arbitration services of Judicial Dispute Resolution ("JDR")."

On May 12, 2020 JCAI, without giving notice or engaging in any effort to settle a dispute, filed a Petition for Judicial Dissolution and to Appoint a General Receiver in King County Superior Court against HTP and HyTech and alleged, it was not reasonably practicable to carry on HyTech's business activities "in conformance with the Agreement." CP 1-

9. JCAI also requested a general receiver be appointed to take control of and sell HyTech's assets. CP 1-9. In its Petition, JCAI made numerous references to the Agreement attempting to justify the judicial dissolution action and receiver appointment. CP 1-9, ¶¶11, 12, 14, 17, 20, 25, 29, 31, 34, 35, and 36. On the same day and without notice to HTP JCAI obtained a show cause order for the general receiver appointment that was to be heard on May 29, 2020. CP 11-21 and 101-114.

On May 18, 2020, HTP served JCAI and HyTech with a 30-day notice as required by the Agreement, which they ignored. CP 442-445.

Before the hearing on the show cause hearing, HTP filed a response and two declarations pointing out the Arbitration Provision in the Agreement and requested JCAI's dispute be compelled to arbitration. CP 420-463. The Ex-Parte Commissioner did not grant JCAI's Order to Show Cause to Appoint a General Receiver; rather, he assigned the matter to a judge and instructed HTP to file its motion to compel arbitration with the assigned judge. CP 793-797.

HTP then filed its Motion to Compel Arbitration on May 29, 2020 with the trial judge and noted it for hearing on June 11, 2020. CP 809-936.

On May 27, 2020 HyTech filed a motion for a temporary restraining order against non-adverse co-defendant HTP without filing any

cross-claim against HTP. CP 672 – 780. HyTech requested relief against HTP alleging HTP was not abiding by the terms of the Agreement. *Id.*HTP resisted HyTech's Temprorary Restraining Order by asserting the HyTech dispute was not ripe and the trial court had no subject matter jurisdiction to consider a non-adverse do-defendant's motion until it filed a cross-claim asserting a basis for relief and also because the alleged dispute was subject should be compelled to arbitration and that there was a motion to compel arbitration pending. CP 1131-115VRP 51, ln 1-3. The Commissioner granted HyTech's Motion and issued a Temporary Restraining Order. CP 1312-1314.

The trial judge did not decide HTP's Motion to Compel Arbitration first even though it was noted for hearing first. Instead, he combined HTP's arbitration motion with HyTech's Preliminary Motion Judgment and heard them together and at the same time. He deemed HyTech's preliminary injunction motion the "lead motion" and let it (and JCAI) argue the injunction motion and the merits underlying the dispute first before determining HTP's arbitration motion. VRP 66, ln 13- 67, ln 7. The trial judge granted HyTech's preliminary injunction motion and denied HTP's arbitration motion. HTP filed an appeal the following day. CP 1646-1656. This appeal resulted in the Opinion. App. A. This matter has been stayed.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

There is a conflict between Division One's 1995 opinion in *McClure* that holds an arbitration provision requiring all disputes arising under a larger agreement be arbitrated is narrow while an arbitration provision stating all disputes arising out of a larger agreement is broad and Division Three's Opinion in *Terry* that holds they should be construed as being equally broad. *See McClure* 77 Wn. App. at 314-315; *Terry*, 440 P.3d at 1203; and the Opinion, f.n. 11. This conflict and the confusion it created should be decided by this Court. The public's interest in uniformity and predictability is at stake.<sup>1</sup>

When resolving this conflict, this Court should consider the strong public policy favoring arbitration of disputes. When the FAA was enacted in 1923, it was enacted to "enable businessmen to settle their disputes expeditiously and economically" and to "reduce congestion in the Federal and State courts."., 532 U.S. 105, 126, 121 S. Ct. 1302, 1315, 149 L. Ed. 2d 234 (2001). Its purpose was to ameliorate "the"delay and expense of litigation." *Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson,* 513 U.S. 265, 280–81, 115 S. Ct. 834, 842–43, 130 L. Ed. 2d 753 (1995). It was designed to make arbitration agreements "universally enforceable."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> HTP requested the Opinion be published because it continued the conflict between the Court of Appeals' Divisions (in a footnote), but the Court of Appeals denied HTP's request that the Opinion be published.

*Allied*, 513 U.S. at 280. The Opinion does nothing to further these purposes.

As such, a body of federal law developed that all state and federal courts must follow when construing an arbitration provision in a larger agreement that is subject to the FAA. Applying this FAA standard, in cases like this when the only issue is whether a dispute is arbitrable (as opposed to revoking, modifying, or refusing to enforce an agreement based on a state law defense that applies to contracts generally)<sup>2</sup> the FAA requires the court construing an arbitration provision's breadth to "indulge every presumption in favor of arbitration." Zuver, 153 Wn.2d 293, 301, 103 P.3d 753 (2004). (quoting Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24, 103 S. Ct. 927, 74 L. Ed. 2d 765 (1983)). In these cases, the FAA requires state courts to give "due regard" "to the federal policy favoring arbitration" and if there are any doubts as to whether a dispute is within the scope of an arbitration provision, then those doubts must be "resolved in favor of arbitration." Volt Info. Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ., 489 U.S. 468, 475–76, 109 S. Ct. 1248, 1253–54, 103 L. Ed. 2d 488 (1989). In other words, a motion to compel arbitration should not be denied unless it may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Opinion, Pg. 2.

be said with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted dispute. *AT & T Techs., Inc. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am.*, 475 U.S. 643, 650, 106 S. Ct. 1415, 1419, 89 L. Ed. 2d 648 (1986).

Moreover, the party resisting arbitration pursuant to a valid arbitration provision that is part of a larger agreement "bears the burden of showing the arbitration agreement is invalid or does not encompass the claims at issue." *Mediterranean Enterprises, Inc. v. Ssangyong Corp.*, 708 F.2d 1458, 1463 (9th Cir. 1983); and *Quiroz v. Cavalry SPV I, LLC*, 217 F. Supp. 3d 1130, 1135 (C.D. Cal. 2016). If the party resisting arbitration cannot meet its burden, then the FAA "leaves no place for the exercise of discretion by a district court, but instead mandates that district courts *shall* direct the parties to proceed to arbitration on issues as to which an arbitration agreement has been signed." *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218, 105 S. Ct. 1238, 1241, 84 L. Ed. 2d 158 (1985) (emphasis in original). This is true even if it results in piecemeal litigation. *Moses Cone Mem'l Hosp.* at 20.

In addition. when a court is required to determine whether multiple claims are arbitrable, the court must determine each dispute's arbitrability. *KPMG LLP v. Cocchi*, 565 U.S. 18, 22, 132 S. Ct. 23, 26, 181 L. Ed. 2d 323 (2011) (internal citations omitted). *See*, *also*, *Wiese v. Cach*, *LLC*, 189

Wash. App. 466, 479, 358 P.3d 1213, 1220 (2015). Here, there were three claims that HTP wanted to be compelled to arbitration: JCAI's action to judicially dissolve HyTech; JCAI's petition to appoint a general receiver; and HyTech's request for injunctive relief. VRP 93, ln 18-24. The trial judge, however, only decided whether JCAI' petition to dissolve HyTech was arbitrable, decided it was not, and then denied HTP's arbitration motion as to all three claims that were asserted against it without findings or legal analysis. VRP 108 ln 19 – 109, ln. 1; and CP 1646-1656. The Opinion never addressed this argument that HTP raised in its Opening Brief and then again in its Motion for Reconsideration.

Moreover, HyTech both at the trial court and at the Court of
Appeals never asserted its claim was not subject to mandatory arbitration.

It never addressed HTP's argument. HTP raised it with the trial court commissioner and the trial judge. They never addressed the issue. HTP then raised the issue with the Court of Appeals in its Opening Brief, in its Reply Brief, and in its Motion for Reconsideration. The Court of Appeals never addressed the issue. By affirming the trial court's order does that mean HTP must litigate an issue that HyTech does not even contest is subject to mandatory arbitration? If that is the result, then that result surely turns the strong policy favoring arbitration on its head.

The Court of Appeals also improperly addressed HTP's argument that the trial judge never determined whether JCAI's receivership petition was arbitrable. As shown in the verbatim report of proceedings, the trial judge stopped determining arbitrability as soon as he decided JCAI's judicial dissolution claim was not arbitrable and denied HTP's arbitration motion in its entirety. VRP 108 ln 19 – 109, ln. 1. Despite the trial court never analyzing whether JCAI's receivership claim was arbitrable, the Court of Appeals decided the issue and held the "trial court did not err by concluding arbitration of the request for a receiver was not compelled." Opinion, Pg. 6.

Not only is this portion of the Opinion inconsistent with the record, it also avoided HTP's argument that each claim must be separately analyzed when there are multiple claims. Here, JCAI sought receivership under multiple theories. It sought a receiver pursuant to the judicial dissolution statute and RCW 7.60.025(1)(t). It sought a receiver under other provisions as well. Each of these claims needed to be analyzed.

The one thing JCAI did not assert in its Petition was the right to have a receiver provisionally appointed pursuant to RCW 7.60.025(1)(b) in connection with an action to enforce its Senior Security Agreement its rights as a secured creditor. Yet this was the ground upon which the Court of Appeals determined JCAI had a right to a receiver. Opinion, Pg. 6.

Neither the trial court nor the appellate court addressed any of the other claims upon which JCAI sought a receiver (e.g. RCW 7.60.025(1)(a), (i), (t), (u), and (nn)). <u>See</u> Petition, CP 1-9.

Ironically, the receivership provisions that were not addressed were the only issues that HTP requested by compelled to arbitration because those were the only claims that JCAI asserted against it. HTP only requested the claims against it by JCAI and HyTech be compelled to arbitration. HTP was not a party to the Senior Security Agreement. Had JCAI commenced an action to enforce the Senior Security Agreement, then it would not have named HTP; rather, it would have named HyTech and the junior Class C secured creditor Acamar because Acamar was a junior secured creditor that would necessarily be affected by any senior security agreement enforcement action. Not only did JCAI not name Acamar as a defendant in the Petition, but it also successfully resisted Acamar's intervention. VRP pps. 1-16.

The Court of Appeals also determined JCAI's right to have a receiver appointed based on an incorrect reading of the record. In avoiding the real issue, which was whether people can contract to require receivers be appointed through arbitration, the Opinion relied upon a senior security agreement that HyTech granted to JCAI for additional loans that were not contemplated by the Agreement ("Senior Security

Agreement"). The Agreement only contemplated two security agreements when it was signed - a legacy security interest HTP granted Acamar in HTP's intellectual property that it was contributing to HyTech ("IP") that Acamar subordinated to JCAI when JCAI signed the Agreement and agreed to fund HyTech and HyTech's granting of a "Class B" security interest to JCAI to secure its funding of up to \$5.7 Million for HyTech's operations. Because Acamar subordinated its legacy security interest in the IP to JCAI's Class B Security Interest, Acamar became a junior Class C Security Interest.

After the Agreement was signed, and in January 2019 (as amended in August 2019) JCAI (and Acamar) loaned additional sums to HyTech and received a new Senior Security Interest that was higher in priority than both JCAI's Class B Security Interest and Acamar's Class C Security Interest. These additional uncontemplated additional 2019 loans are what is secured by the Senior Security Agreement. The security agreement language in the Agreement, §4.05(e) that the Court of Appeals relied upon in the Opinion, Pg. 6, was to secure JCAI's funding the initial \$5,7 Million. It had nothing to do with the subsequent Senior Security Agreement.

This case also presented an opportunity to decide whether judicial dissolutions and receiver appointments are arbitrable. This debate is not

settled amongst state and federal jurisdictions across this country and defies the uniformity the FAA has sought for almost 100 years. JCAI cited two cases – one from Montana and one from Georgia – that state judicial dissolution actions are not arbitrable. See Georgia Rehab. Ctr., Inc. v Newnan Hosp., 283 Ga. 335, 658 S.E.2d 737 (2008); and Gordon v. *Kuzara*, 358 Mont. 432, 245 P.3d 37, (2010). For each of those two caes there are, however, dozens that hold the exact opposite. B&S MS Holdings, LLC v. Landrum, 302 So. 3d 605, 607 (Miss. 2020), reh'g denied (Oct. 1, 2020); Bosworth v. Ehrenreich, 823 F. Supp. 1175 (D.N.J. 1993); Sun Valley Ranch 308 Ltd. P'ship ex rel. Englewood Properties, Inc. v. Robson, 231 Ariz. 287, 294 P.3d 125 (2012); Ray v. Chafetz, 236 F. Supp. 3d 66 (D.D.C. 2017); Stone v. Theatrical Inv. Corp., 64 F. Supp. 3d 527, 541 (S.D.N.Y. 2014); Green v. Short, No. 06 CVS 22085, 2007 WL 2570821, (N.C. Super. Mar. 9, 2007); Johnson v. Foulk Rd. Med. Ctr. P'ship, No. CIV.A. 18984, 2001 WL 1563693, at \*1 (Del. Ch. Nov. 21, 2001); Jackman v. Jackman, No. 06-1329-MLBDWB, 2006 WL 3792109 (D. Kan. Dec. 21, 2006); Travel Express Investments, Inc. v. Hemani, No. 608CV01699ORL35DAB, 2009 WL 10670424, at \*3 (M.D. Fla. May 12, 2009); and Sharpe v. Lytal & Reiter, Clark, Sharpe, Roca, Fountain, Williams, 702 So. 2d 622 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997). Here, the Court of Appeals declined to consider this important issue that could lend

predictability and certainty to businesspeople, large and small, as well as consumers on whether they may contract to have these claims decided through arbitration and, thereby, decrease court congestion and receive speedy and effective relief.

The Court of Appeals also failed to address three important issues regarding the Preliminary Injunction. First, it never addressed whether the trial court was required to stay the proceedings once HTP requested the dispute by compelled to arbitration. RCW 7.04A.070(5) states

If a party files a motion with the court to order arbitration under this section, <u>the court shall</u> on just terms stay any judicial proceeding that involves a claim alleged to be subject to the arbitration until the court renders a final decision under this section.

Seemingly this requires <u>courts</u> to stay all proceedings regarding a claim without a request from a party as to all claims a party seeks to compel to arbitration until there is a final order entered determining arbitrability.

Here, both the commissioner and the trial judge did just the opposite. The commissioner granted a temporary restraining order when he knew HTP had already filed a motion to compel arbitration and re-asserted arbitration at the temporary restraining order hearing. The trial judge then did not decide HTP's arbitration motion on the day it was properly noted and deferred it to be heard

at the same time as HyTech's preliminary injunction motion and made HyTech's preliminary injunction motion the lead motion allowing HyTech (and JCAI) to argue the merits of the disputes prior to hearing argument or determining HTP's arbitration motion.

These actions by the commissioner and the trial judge not only violated the automatic stay the court was to automatically impose, but it also resulted in the commissioner and the trial judge to hear the merits of the case prior to deciding the arbitration motion. The Opinion recognized this would be improper, Opinion, Pg. 4, f.n. 20, but never addressed the automatic stay issue in the Opinion.

Second, the Court of Appeals never addressed whether a state trial court should defer to an arbitrator any decisions regarding provisional remedies when a claim is arbitrable. The federal law in the Ninth Circuit is clear that federal district courts should not grant provisional remedies on claims subject to mandatory arbitration, but should leave that up to the arbitrators that are to decide the disputed issue.

Furthermore, once a court determines that all disputes are subject to arbitration pursuant to a binding arbitration clause, it is improper for a district court to grant preliminary relief where *provisional relief is available from an arbitral tribunal. See Simula, Inc. v. Autolive, Inc.*, 175 F.3d 716, 726 (9th Cir.1999) (emphasis added). District courts within the Ninth Circuit have consistently followed

this holding. See, e.g., DHL Info. Servs., Inc. v. Infinite Software Corp., 502 F.Supp.2d 1082, 1083 (C.D.Cal.2007) (applying Simula to refrain from carving out interim relief issues from the arbitrator); Ever-Gotesco Res. and Holding, Inc. v. PriceSmart, Inc., 192 F.Supp.2d 1040, 1044 (S.D.Cal.2002) (holding that Simula requires an arbitral tribunal to grant provisional relief where the parties submit to arbitration); China Nat'l Metal Prods. Import/Export Co. v. Apex Digital, Inc., 155 F.Supp.2d 1174, 1182 (C.D.Cal.2001) (reversing magistrate judge's issuance of a writ and finding that "Simula dictates that the court must respect [an arbitration] agreement and refrain from awarding provisional relief when the parties have provided for another means to obtain such relief").

Greenpoint Technoligies, Inc. v. Peridot Associated S.A., C08-1828 RSM, 2009 WL 674630, at \*3 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 11, 2009).

Here, the only party that sought provisional relief was HyTech on its injunctive relief claim that it does not contest is subject to mandatory arbitration. Despite HTP having made this argument with both the trial court and the Court of Appeals, HyTech never responded to it, and the Court of Appeals never addressed it. This, too, is an important issue that needs to be decided and affects the public interest — when an agreement contains an arbitration provision that is subject to the FAA must the state follow the federal law or can follow its own state law.

If either of these arguments are successful – either the automatic stay or the deference to the arbitrator – then the

Preliminary Injunction should be deemed void and vacated and the issue of injunctive relief, either preliminary or permanent, should be deferred to the arbitrator for determination.

Finally, the Court of Appeals never addressed whether the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to consider a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction motion brought by a non-adverse codefendant against another non-adverse co-defendant without first asserting a cross claim against the non-moving co-defendant. Other jurisdictions have held that courts do not have subject matter jurisdiction. See Koplow v. City of Biddeford, 494 A.2d 175, 176 (Me. 1985); Hutchins v. Stanton, 23 N.C. App. 467, 469–70, 209 S.E.2d 348, 349–50 (1974); Long Prairie Packing Co. v. United Nat. Bank, Sioux Falls, 338 N.W.2d 838, 840–41 (S.D. 1983); and Smith v. Spitzenberger, 363 N.W.2d 470, 472 (Minn. Ct. App. 1985). Once again, HTP raised this jurisdictional argument with the commissioner who never addressed his subject matter jurisdiction and issued a temporary restraining order and set a hearing date for a preliminary injunction motion that HyTech filed without still having asserted a counterclaim against HTP. HTP raised the issue again on appeal, but HyTech did not address it and neither did the Court of Appeals. Subject matter jurisdiction is constitutional and a matter that is

of great public importance that this Court should accept review and decide.

DATED this 29th day of April 2021

/s/ Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177 Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177 WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC 7500 212th St. SW, Suite 207 Edmonds, WA 98026 Telephone: (425) 728-7296

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