### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/10/2021 3:07 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99715-2

### SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

HTP INC, a Washington corporation,

Appellant,

v.

JC AVIATION INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and HyTech Power, LLC, a Washington limited liability company.

Respondents.

### ANSWER OF RESPONDENT JC AVIATION INVESTMENTS, LLC, TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

### KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This Answer addresses only the issues regarding the scope of the Arbitration clause as it relates to the relief sought by JCAI. The issues related to court rulings regarding injunctive relief are in being addressed in the separate Answer filed by HyTech. JCAI joins and incorporates the arguments made by HyTech.

*LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 810, 225 P.3d 213, 229 (2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Likewise, the threshold issue of arbitrability is the same under the FAA and Washington's Uniform Arbitration Act, chapter 7.04A RCW; whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a particular dispute. *Id*.

The arbitration clause in the HyTech LLC Agreement is found in

Section 12.03, which provides:

The parties hereto will use their reasonable best efforts to resolve any <u>dispute hereunder</u> through good faith negotiations. In the event a dispute cannot be resolved informally within thirty (30) days of notice by one party to the other of such dispute, the parties agree that <u>such dispute</u> will be resolved exclusively through final and binding arbitration.

CP at 163 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals did not rely on either of the two cases HTP contends are in conflict. It distinguished *David Terry*, which concluded that the phrases "arising out of or related to" a contract had the same broad meaning when used in an arbitration clause, but which did not purport to construe the operable phrase in the HyTech LLC Agreement, a "dispute hereunder." Opinion at 6.<sup>6</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly rejected HTPs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It is questionable whether there is in fact any conflict between *David Terry* and *McClure*. The abirritation clause in *McClure* was broadly worded, providing for the arbitration of "[a]ny dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with, or relating to, this Agreement or any breach or alleged breach hereof[.]" 77 Wn. App. at 314. The so called dispute exists because *David Terry* distinguished *McClure* based on its statement that an arbitration clause that encompasses any controversy

argument that that a dispute "under" an agreement is just as broad as a claim "arising out of" or "relating to" the agreement. In the same footnote in which the Court of Appeals distinguished *David Terry*, it noted that federal courts under the FAA have interpreted the phrase "arising hereunder" narrowly:

> Clauses requiring arbitration of disputes "arising under" or "hereunder" are interpreted narrowly. *Cape Flattery Ltd. v. Titan Mar., LLC*, 647 F.3d 914, 924 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing *Mediterranean Enter. v. Ssangyong Corp.*, 708 F.2d 1458, 1464 (9th Cir. 1983)); see *Granite Rock Co. v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters*, 561 U.S. 287, 307-08, 130 S. Ct. 2847, 177 L Ed. 2d 567 (2010) (describing the phrase "arising under this agreement" as "relatively narrow") (citing *Drake Bakeries, Inc. v. Local 50, Am. Bakery & Confectionary Workers Int'l*, 370 U.S. 254, 256-57, 82 S. Ct. 1346, 8 L. Ed. 2d 474 (1962)); but see *Yei A. Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc.*, 901 F.3d 1081, 1086 (9th Cir. 2018) (construing the phrase "any disputes arising out of or related to" broadly)).

Opinion at 6, n.11.

HTP argues that the particular language the parties use in an arbitration clause is irrelevant and all language invoking arbitration should be broadly construed regardless of the parties' intent as expressed in the language contained in their agreement. According to HTP, if the contract contains an arbitration clause, regardless of its language, the court should

<sup>&</sup>quot;relating to" a contract is broader than language covering only claims "arising out of" a contract. *David Terry*, 13 Wn. App.2d at 167. This statement in *McClure* is pure *dicta* as the arbitration clause in *McClure* used both the phrases "related to" and "arising out of" and was thus irrelevant to *McClure's* holding.

disregard the language chosen by the parties and rule that all disputes between them are arbitrable. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument as being inconsistent with Washington law, which requires the court to determine the parties' intent by focusing on the objective manifestations of the agreement, and imputing to the parties an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used. *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005); *see also Nelson v. Westport Shipyard, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 102, 117, 163 P.3d 807 (2007) ("[W]e look to the language of the agreement to determine the scope of the arbitration clause") (citing *Drake Bakeries*, 370 U.S. at 256; *Mediterranean Enter.*, 708 F.2d at 1464).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals engaged in detailed examination of the language in the LLC Agreement. The key provisions of the arbitration clause in the LLC Agreement are specifically defined in the agreement. Section 1.02 of the Agreement specifies that "hereunder" refers to "this Agreement as a whole." Section 1.01 defines "Agreement" as "this Limited Liability Company Agreement, as executed and as it may be amended." This is to be contrasted with the various other agreements that are separately defined in section 1.01 and distinguished from the LLC Agreement, including the HTP Contribution Agreement, the JCAI Class A Contribution Agreement and the JCAI Class B Contribution Agreement, Founder's Agreement and Joinder Agreement. Section 12.07 further distinguishes the LLC Agreement from other documents associated with HyTech: "This Agreement, together with the Certificate of Formation and all related Exhibits and Schedules, constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein." The Court of Appeals thus correctly concluded that "arbitration is required for a dispute about the LLC Agreement itself, exclusive of documents not part of the "Agreement" defined in section 1.01.

This case provides no occasion for the Court to examine what HTP alleges is a conflict between the divisions of the Court of Appeals. Neither of the decisions that are alleged to be conflicting (if in fact they do conflict) were relied on by the Court of Appeals, and because neither case construes the operative phrase "arising hereunder," it is unnecessary for this Court to address the alleged conflict to resolve this appeal.

Related to HTP's Issue 1 are Issues 2 and 3. Issue 2 raises the question whether a contract subject to the FAA should be construed using the substantive body of federal law that all reasonable doubts concerning arbitrability should be construed in favor of arbitration. Issue 3 asks "whether this Court should require the party opposing arbitration in cases involving a valid arbitration provision in a valid larger agreement that is

subject to the FAA to prove that a dispute is not arbitrable using the body of federal law construing a valid arbitration provision's scope."

Washington law is identical to federal law on these points. *See Gandee v. LDL Freedom Enters., Inc.,* 176 Wn.2d 598, 602-03, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013). HTP's Petition contains no discussion of how federal law is different or how it would require a different outcome from the one reached by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals found that the arbitration clause required only arbitration of "a dispute about the LLC Agreement itself exclusive of documents not of part of the 'Agreement' defined in section 1.01" and that the "agreement's narrow, unambiguous language is sufficient to show the parties' objective intent to limit the scope of arbitration." Opinion at 8. HTP's petition is devoid of any discussion of why the Court of Appeals' reasoning or its conclusion that parties' unambiguous language manifesting an objective intent to limit the scope of the arbitration fails to satisfy the applicable legal standard under with the FAA or Washington law.

### C. <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that JCAI's</u> <u>Request for the Judicial Dissolution was Not Subject to</u> <u>Arbitration.</u>

The only issue HTP identifies that specifically addresses the Court of Appeals' ruling that JCAI's request for judicial dissolution was within the scope of the arbitration agreement is Issue 5 "Whether the FAA, whether [sic] judicial dissolution actions are subject to arbitration or can they only be entertained in a judicial forum." This is a purely hypothetical issue. HTP's petition devotes no discussion of how this issue relates to the Court of Appeals' Opinion or how it satisfies the requirements for Supreme Court review. It notes only there are a number of differing decisions in both federal and state courts on this issue.

JCAI sought the dissolution of HyTech based solely on the event of dissolution described Section 11.01(d) of the LLC Agreement: "The entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under RCW 25.15.274 of the Washington [Limited Liability Company] Act." The Court found that "[b]y allowing for dissolution 'under RCW 25.15.274,' section 11.01(d) is an objective manifestation that a party to the LLC agreement may seek a decree of judicial dissolution in superior court, as contemplated by the statute." Opinion at 10. Since there was no dispute about the meaning of section 11.01(d) or the LLC Agreement, JCAI could petition for judicial dissolution without arbitration. Id. Additionally, there was no dispute that the board of HyTech was hopelessly deadlocked and effectively dysfunctional because of the supermajority provisions in the LLC Agreement. And regardless, because judicial dissolution arises from circumstances outside the LLC Agreement, JCAI's claim was outside the scope of the arbitration clause. Opinion at 11. Having found the JCAI's petition for judicial dissolution

was not subject to arbitration, the Court found it unnecessary to address the question of an arbitrator's authority (*id.* at 10, n. 25), which is the issue HTP raises in its Issue 5. HTP totally fails to explain how this issue, which the Court of Appeals did not decide satisfies the for criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

#### D. <u>The Court of Appeals Ruled Correctly Determined the</u> <u>Arbitrability of Each of the Claims.</u>

HTP's Issue 4 is "[w]hether courts confronted with a good faith motion to compel arbitration of multiple disputes in a single action must determine each claim's arbitrability rather than denying arbitration of all disputes because one dispute may not be arbitrable." HTP's argument here, as the Court of Appeals observed, is based on a mischaracterization of its own Motion to Compel (*see* Opinion at 8-9), and a mischaracterization of the trial court proceedings.

HTP's Motion to Compel asked the Superior Court to decide "[w]hether this action for judicial dissolution of HyTech and for appointment of a general receiver is an] arbitrable] dispute between JCAI, HTP and HyTech under the LLC Agreement." CP at 162. At the hearing on June 16, 2020, the trial court addressed both these issues and whether HyTech's request for an injunction was arbitrable, which issue arose after HTP filed its motion to compel. HTP's argues, based on the transcript of the June 16 hearing, that all of the issues before the court were not addressed as part of the oral argument (*see* Petition at 12). This misstates the record.

The Superior Court specifically ruled, "[t]here is Section 12.15, which allows for the parties to seek equitable relief. And judicial dissolution proceeding is one that is considered one for equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order that's available from a court of competent jurisdiction." RP at 108. Moreover, there is no requirement that the trial court entertain oral argument or set out its analysis in an oral ruling. The Court's written order clearly indicates HTP's motion was denied. CP 1650. The trial court clearly denied the motion to compel arbitration of the receivership as well as the motion to compel arbitration of the judicial dissolution, as those matters were set to proceed to trial on June 30, 2020, which the trial court struck following HTP's appeal. CP 1687-88.

Moreover, an appellate court reviews a trial decision *de novo*, and the appellate court may affirm on any grounds established by the pleading and supported by the record. *Otis Hous. Ass'n v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 586, 201 P.3d 309 (2009). Here, the Court of Appeals separately and correctly evaluated each of the two issues on which HTP sought to compel arbitration.

### E. <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that JCAI's</u> <u>Request for the Appointment of a Receiver was Not Subject to</u> <u>Arbitration.</u>

The only issue HTP raises challenging the court's decision that JCAI's petition for a receiver was not subject to arbitration is Issue 6: "Whether the FAA, whether [sic] receiver appointment are subject to arbitration or can only be entertained in a judicial forum." Again, this is a purely hypothetical issue, since HTP does not, in any of its issues identified in its Petition, dispute the correctness of the Court of Appeal's conclusion that JCAI's request for an appointment of a receiver was outside the scope of the arbitration clause in the LLC Agreement. Also, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, this issue was not properly before it since it was never considered by Superior Court. Opinion at 13.<sup>7</sup>

JCAI's petition and motion for an order to show cause sought the appointment of a general receiver for HyTech on multiple grounds, including Section 4.04 of the Senior Security Agreement, which provided that upon an Event of Default under the Senior Secured Loan Agreement, JCAI is entitled to the appointment of a receiver "as a matter of right." CP 7; *see also* CP 10-11, 19-20. HTP is not a party the Senior Secured Loan Agreement — its only parties are JCAI and HyTech — and it does not contain an arbitration clause. And as the Court of Appeals noted, receivership is not a subject addressed anywhere in the LLC Agreement.

The Court of Appeals in its Opinion noted that section 4.05 of the LLC Agreement states that JCAI's security interest in HyTech's assets "will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Superior Court stayed all proceedings other than those relating to the enforcement of the preliminary injunction effective June 17, 2020, the date on which HTP filed its Notice of Appeal of the order denying its Motion to Compel arbitration. CP at 1687-88.

be evidenced by a separate agreement." Opinion at 12. HTP correctly notes that section 4.05 of the LLC Agreement does not reference the Senior Security Agreement dated January 7, 2019, but rather JCAI's earlier security agreement dated June 14, 2018, and devotes a page and half of its argument to this point. However, this is a distinction without a difference — the point being that JCAI's rights as a secured creditor were intended to be controlled by agreements between JCAI and HyTech, separate and apart from the LLC Agreement.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that "because arbitration is required only for disputes under the LLC Agreement and the receivership provision in JCAI's security agreement is entirely separate and not subject to an arbitration clause, the court did not err by concluding arbitration of the request for a receiver was not compelled. *See Satomi*, 167 Wn.2d at 810 (because "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.") (quoting *Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.*, 537 U.S. 79, 83, 123 S. Ct. 588, 154 L. Ed. 2d 491 (2002)).

None of the 12 issues HTP raises under RAP 13.4(c) challenges the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the scope of the arbitration clause in the LLC Agreement did not apply to JCAI's right to the appointment of a receiver under a separate agreement to which HTP was not a party and which does not contain an arbitration clause; and HTP fails to explain how this satisfies how the hypothetical issue it raises in its Petition, which the not the subject of a decision by either the Superior Court or the Court of Appeals, satisfies any of the criterial of RAP 13.4(b).

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, HyTech respectfully submits that this Court should decline to accept review of the Court of Appeals' March 1, 2021 Opinion.